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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

JAMESGARY HAMILTON,
P laintiff,
V. CaseNo. 1:15¢cv-00149 (CRC)

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL
ASSOCIATION, et al.,

Defendants.

MEM ORANDUM OPINION

JamesGary Hamilton, who is proceedingpro se, lost his California hometo foreclosure
afterhefell behindon his mortgage. In this casethe third federallawsuit he hasfiled overthe
foreclosure Hamilton hassuedfour financial institutions with connectionsto the mortgage. He
seekscancellationof the foreclosuredueto avariety of allegeddeficienciesin the saleof the
mortgage;accuse®ne of the DefendantsUS Bank, of violating the Truth in Lending Act
(“TILA” ) by faiing to notify him of the assignmenif the mortgage brings claims underthe
FalseClaims Act asarelator on behalf of the United Statesandseekgo enforcea2012 consent
decreebetweerthe federalgovernmentand numerousbanks,including two of the Defendants
here prohibiting avariety of deceptivemortgageservicing practices. The Defendant$have
movedto dismiss Hamilton’s complaint. For the reasonsxplainedbelow, the Courtwill grant
their motions.

I Background

In 1999, Hamilton purchasedihomein RanchoSantaFe, Calfornia, with the help of a
$700,000loan from Downey Savings& LoanAssociation,F.A., which wassecuredy adeedof

truston the property. Compl. 112, 54. Hamilton allegesthatthe deedof trustwassecuritized
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andsold to arealestatemortgageinvestmentconduit, with Wells Fargoasthe Securities
Administrator. Id. 2. Theentireloanwaslater acquiredby US Bankwhenit purchased
Downeys assetdn receivership.ld. 1 2. In 2010, after Hamilton defaultedon the mortgage his
homewasforeclosedandsold to HomeSales|nc, awholy ownedsubsidiaryof JPMorgan Id.
111, 68.

Hamilton brought suit in the U.S. District Court for the SouthernDistrict of California
againstUS Bank andHomeSales|nc., aswell asa variety of otherinstitutions andindividuals,
alleging violation of his constitutional rights under42 U.S.C.8§ 1983, violation of the Fair Debt
Collection PracticesAct, 15 U.S.C.8 1692, andstatelaw claims for quiet title, wrongful

foreclosure slanderof title, andfraudulentinducement. Hamilton v. USBank, N.A., CaseNo.

3:12-cv-00977 (S.D.Cal Nov. 28, 2011). Thedistrict court dismissedHamitton’s federalclaims
with prejudice anddeclinedto exercisesypplementaljurisdiction over his statelaw claims. Id.
Hamilton now brings aneightcount Complaint in this Court againstJP MorganChase
Bank,US Bank,HomeSaleslnc., andWells FargoBank CountOneseeksancdation of the
2010 foreclosure allegesthat Defendantdackedstandingto forecloseon the property and
claims thatthe foreclosureconstitutedintentional infliction of emotional distress. In CountsTwo
through Five, Hamilton seekdo bring claims underthe FalseClaims Act, 31 U.S.C.§ 3729 asa
relator on behalf of the United Statesand on behalf of aclassof mortgagors. Count Six seekgo
enforceaConsentJudgmententerednto betweerseverabanks,including JPMorganand Wells
Fargo,andthe federalgovernmentin a prior casen this district. SeeConsentJudgment,ECF

Nos.10and 14, United Statess. Bank of America Corp, 12-361 (D.D.C.Apr. 4, 2012)

(“ConsentJudgmerif). CountSevenallegesthatUS Bank violated the Truth in Lending Act

(“TILA™), 15U.S.C.81601, by not providing Hamilton with notice of the assignmenbf his



mortgage. Compl. 122. Finally, CountEight seeksancellationof various, unspecified
recordeddocumentsassociateavith the nontjudicial foreclosureof the property.
Defendantdhiavemovedto dismiss all of the claims, contendingthat: (1) Hamilton lacks
standingto enforcethe Consentludgmentbecausédie wasnot aparty to the underlying action
thatproducedit; (2) aninjunction andcancellationof documentsarenot cause®f action, but
ratherremediesandHamilton cannotobtaintitle to the California property becausée hasfailed
to allege aviable, credible,and completetenderof the amountshe borrowed,asrequiredunder

California law, seeAguilar v. Bocci 39 Cal. App. 3d 475, 477 (1974) (establishingthatunder

California law, aplaintiff may not quiettitle without first discharginghis debt) (3) Hamilton
cannotbring a FalseClaims Act claim asapro se plaintiff; and(4) Hamilton’s TILA claim is
barredby aoneyearstatuteof imitations. Additionally, US Bank movesto transfervenueto the
SouthernDistrict of California, wherethe propertyis locatedandall the pertinentevents
allegedly took place.

1. Standard of Review

UnderFederaRule of Civil Procedurel2(b)(3), adefendanimay move to dismiss a suit
for improper venue. “ In consideringaRule 12(b)(3) motion, the court acceptghe plaintiff’s
well-pled factualallegationsregardingvenueastrue, drawsall reasonablenferencedrom those

allegationsin the plaintiff’s favor, andresolvesanyfactualconflicts in the plaintiff’s favor.

Hunterv. Johanns517 F. Supp. 2d 340, 343 (D.D.C.2007) (quoting Darbyv. Degt of Energy

231 F. Supp.2d 274,276 (D.D.C.2002)). Thefactualallegations offeredby a plaintiff
proceedingpro se areheld “to lessstringentstandardghanformal pleadingsdraftedby lawyers’

Sparrowv. United Air _Lines, Inc.,216F.3d1111,1113n.2 (D.C. Cir. 2000) (quotations

omitted).



UnderFederaRule of Civili Procedurel2(b)(6), acourt mustdismiss acomplaint that
fails to statealegally valid claim. The complaint mustcontainfacts“stat[ing] aclaim to relief

thatis plausible on its face” Bell Atl. Corp.v. Twombly, 550 U.S.544,570(2007). “A claim

hasfacial plausibility whenthe plaintiff pleadsfactualcontentthatallows the courtto drawthe

reasonablanferencethat the defendants liable for the misconductalleged. Ashcroftv. Igbal

556, U.S.662, 678 (2009).

[11.  Analysis

A. ConsentJudgment{Count 6)

In 2012, the federalgovernment 49 statesandthe District of Columbia brought suit
againstnumerousfinancial institutions, including JPMorganandWells Fargo,alleging thatthey
hadengagedn deceptiveandillegal practicesn servicing mortgagesandforeclosingon houses
beforeandduring the 2008 financial crisis. The United Statessettledits claims againstthe banks
with a ConsentJudgment,which setsforth, amongotherthings, alist of servicing standardgor
future foreclosureproceedings. Consentludgmentex. A, SettlementTerm Sheet. Hamilton
seekdo enforcethesestandardsgainstthe Defendantdere. However,* [a] consentdecreas
not enforceabladirectly or in collateralproceedingsby thosewho arenot partiesto it even

thoughthey wereintendedto be benefitedby it.”” SECv. PrudentialSec.Inc., 136 F.3d 153,

157 (D.C. Cir. 1998) (quoting Blue Chip Stampsv. Manor Drug Stores, 421 U.S.723, 750

(1975)). This rule applieswith evengreaterforcewhenthe governments aparty to the

judgment. SeeBeckettv. Air Line Pilots Assn, 995 F.2d280, 288 (D.C. Cir.1993) (“Only the

Governmentcanseekenforcementf its consentdeaees. . .[and] evenif the Government
intendedits consentdecredo benefit athird party, that party could not enforceit unlessthe

decreesoprovided” (citations omitted)). Applying theseprinciples, this andseverabther courts



in this district have deniedmortgagors attemptgo enforcethe ConsentJudgment. Seege.g.,

Walshv. Bankof America No. 15-cv-00021, 2015 WL 3961160(D.D.C.June29, 2015);

McCainv. Bankof Am., 13 F. Supp.3d 45 (D.D.C.2014), aff'd subnom, No. 14-7016, 2015

WL 3372356(D.C. Cir. May 18, 2015); Selegstronv. Citibank, N.A., No. 141071, 2014 WL

6603202 (D.D.C.Nov. 21, 2014); Ananievv. Freitas No. 13-00341, 2014 WL 1400857 (D.D.C.

Apr. 11,2014) Ghaffariv. Wells FargoBank,N.A., 6 F. Supp. 3d24 (D.D.C.2013).

Accordingly, Hamilton cannotbring aclaim underthe ConsentJludgmentbecausédie wasnot a
partyto it andthe judgmentdoesnot explicitly permitthird partiesto enforceit.

Hamilton neverthelesgontendshat he canenforcethe ConsentJudgmentasarelatoron
behalf of the government.Not sa A partymay not proceedasa relator unlessrepresentetly

counsel. E.g, U.S.exrel. Fisherv. Network SoftwareAssocs, 377 F. Supp.2d 195, 196

(D.D.C.2005) (citing Rockefellerv. WestinghouseElec.Co., 274 F. Supp.2d 10,12 (D.D.C.

2003)). Hamilton is proceedingpro se. Hamiton alsomaintains thatal77yearold Supreme

Court caseMayor of Georgetownv. Alexandria CanalCo., 37 U.S.91 (1838), permits the Court

to exercisets equitable jurisdiction to enforcea consentlecredo preventirreparableharm. He
relies on apassagdrom thatcasestatingthat“in casesof public nuisance, . . .[equity
jurisdiction] may be exercisedn thosecasesn which thereis imminent dangerof irreparable
mischief, beforethe tardinessof the law could reacht.” 1d. at 92 (emphasisadded). A claim of
nuisance however,nvolves an“unreasonablénterferencé with either “public rights; suchas
healthandsafety,or the “private useof land” RestatementSecond)of Torts §§821B(1),821D
(1979). Nuisancelike activity might include, for example,“indecentconductor arubbish heap

or the smoking chimneyof afactory” Id. § 821A Commentb.1. The doctrine hasno



application to this case.Hamiton may not sueto enforcethe ConsentJudgmenton his own
behalf or asaprivate attorneygeneral. Accordingly, Count Six will bedismissed.
B.  Venue

Requiring thatcasedebrought in the propervenueensureshat adistrict with some
interestin the dispute or nexusto the partiesadjudicatesthe plaintiff’'s claims. Venueis proper
in the district where(1) adefendantesidesf2) the eventsgiving rise to the suit occurred;or (3)
if venuewould not be properin anydistrict for thosereasonsyherevethe defendantare
subjectto personajurisdiction. 28 U.S.C.81391(b). Undercertaincircumstancesa courtmay
exercisependentvenuebasecdn a claim thatis relatedto aclaim properly broughtin thatcout,
butit may not exercisependentvenuebasecdn aclaim that hasbeendismissed. Camerorw.
Thornburgh 983 F.2d 253, 257 (D.C. Cir.1993). Here,althoughvenuemight arguablyhave
beenproperin this district asto the CansentJudgmentthatclaim will be dismissed. See
McCain 13 F. Supp. 3d at54 (finding improper venueasto remaining claims after dismissing
claim basedn the ConsentJudgment)(collecting cases).Theremaining claims all involve the
mortgageon Hamiton's former property. The eventssurroundinghis claims did not occurin the
District of Columbia, nor hashe allegedthatany of the Defendantsareresidentsof the District of
Columbia. Additionally, becaus@enuewould be properin the SouthernDistrict of California,
the remaining claims cannotbe brought underthe third prongof Section1391(b) Accordingly,
Hamitton cannotbring his remaining claims in this Court.

Whenvenueis improper, the district courtmustdismissthe suit or, if it is in theinterest
of justice, transfeithe caseto adistrict in which the casecould havebeenbrought. 28 U.S.C.8§
1406(a). Dismissal, insteadof transferjs appropriatewhenthe plaintiff’s claims suffer from

significant substantivedeficiencies Simpkins v. District of Columbig 108 F.3d366, 371 (D.C.




Cir. 1997). Whetherto dismissor transfeithe caseas committed to the sounddiscretion of the

district court. NaartexConsulting Cap. v. Watt, 722 F.2d 779, 789 (D.C. Cir. 1983). The Court

will first determinewhatclaims maybe barredby the doctrine of resjudicata beforedetermining
whetherother claims should be transferredo the SouthernDistrict of California.

C. Remaining Claims

1. ResJudicata(Counts1 and8)

Resjudicata barslitigation of claims the plaintiff hasalreadybroughtor thathe could

haveraisedin aprior action betweerthe samepartiesor their privies. SeeAllen v. McCurry,

449U.S. 90, 94 (1980) (citing Cromwellv. County of Sag 94 U.S. 351, 352 (1876)) (“[A] final

judgment on the merits of anactionprecludeghe partiesor their privies from reltigating issues
thatwereor could have beenraisedin thataction?). The District Court for the SouthernDistrict
of California hasalreadyadjudicatedfederalclaims broughtby Hamilton againstUS Bank and
HomeSales.lt first dismissedwith prejudice Hamittoris constitutional claims andclaims for

violations of the federalFair DebtCollection PracticedAct, Hamilton v. US Bank,N.A., Case

No. 3:11-cv-00977 (S.D. Cal. Nov. 28, 2011), neitherof which is atissuehere. After dismissing

the federalclaims, the Court declinedto exercisesuypplementaljurisdiction overHamilton’s state
law claims for quiettitle, wrongful foreclosure slanderof title, andfraudulentinducement. Id. at
*2. “[Dlismissal of pendantstatelaw claims operatesasadismissalwithout prejudice” Miler

v. U.S.Dept of Agri., 126 F. App'x 417,418 (9th Cir. 2005). Becausea “dismissalwithout

prejudice doesnot determinethe merits’ of the claim, it doesnot haveresjudicata effect. Shin

v. PortalsConfederationCorp., 728 A.2d 615, 618 (D.C. 1999) (quotationsremoved). If the

Court transferredhesetwo Counts,both alleging statelaw claims for wrongful foreclosure the

District Court for the SouthernDistrict of California would verylikely againdeclineto exercise



pendeniurisdiction. As aresult,ratherthantransfeithe claims, the Courtwil dismiss Counts
OneandEight without prejudice,therebyleaving Hamilton to pursueany statelaw remedieshe
may havein California statecourt.

2. FalseClaims Act (Counts2, 3, 4, and5)

Hamilton assert$our separateause®f acion underthe FalseClaims Act. However,he
did not follow the proceduresiecessarto bring anaction asarelatorunderthe Act. Among
otherrequirementsthe relator mustbe representely counsel. McCain 13F. Supp.3dat57.
Becauséhe “realpartyin interestin sucha cases the United States, the needfor adequate

legal representatiorof the governmeris claims is essential. U.S.exrel. Fisher 377 F. Supp.2d

at196. Hamilton is proceedingpro se. His claims ex relatione mustthereforebe dismissed.

3. Truth in Lending Act Violations (Count7)

Hamilton allegesthatUS Bankviolated TILA Section 1641gbecausét did notdisclose
the identity of the currentnoteholder. 15U.S.C.81641(g). The statuteof limitations for TILA
violations—with someexceptionsnot relevanthere—is one year. Id. § 1640(e). According to
Hamiltoris securttizatio audit, Compl. Ex. D, his loan waslast transferredh 2004.
Additionally, US Bank claims to haveacquiredaninterestin Hamiltoris mortgagein 2008when
the original lenderwasplacedin receivership. US BankMot. to Dismissat12. As previously
menioned, Hamilton lost title to his housein 2010whenit wasforeclosed.Hamilton CaseNo.
3:11-cv-00977DMS-RBB. Underany possible transferate,Count Sevenis therefore barredy
TILA’s oneyearstatuteof limitations.

4. Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress

Hamilton additionally contendsn Count Onethat the foreclosureon his mortgage

constitutedintentional infliction of emotional distressby the Defendants Even construing this



allegation liberaly asaseparatelaim, it is no moreviable thanthe others. To makeaclaim of
intentional infliction of emotional distressCalifornia law requires™ (1) extremeandoutrageous
conductby the defendanwith the intention of causing or recklessdisregardof the probability of
causing,emotianal distress;(2) the plaintiff’'s suffering severeor extremeemotional distress;and
(3) actualandproximate causatiorof the emotional distressby the defendars outrageous

conduct. .. .” Christenserv. Superior Court 54 Cal.3d868, 903 (1991) (citing Davidsonyv.

City of Westminster 32 Cal.3d197, 209 (1982)). For “[c] onductto be outrageougit] mustbe

soextremeasto exceedll boundsof that usually toleraedin aciviized community.” 1d.
Hamiltoris allegations do not meetthis standard.Accordingly, Hamittoris claim of intentional
infliction of emotionaldistresswill bedismissed.
V.  Conclusion

For the foregoing reasonsthe Court will grantthe Defendarg’ motions to dismiss and
denyUS Bank, National Associatio’'s Motion to Transferasmoot An Orderaccompanieshis

MemorandumOpinion.

(lostipline L. Gopen_

CHRISTOPHER RCOOPER
United StatedDistrict Judge

Date: Auqust4, 2015
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